## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-KA-00758-COA

**COLT ALLEN CHRISTIAN** 

FILED

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

VERSUS

•

DEC 19 2007 OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Criminal Action No. 2006-10,444(3)

GEORGE S. SHADDOCK 704 WATTS AVENUE POST OFFICE BOX 80 PASCAGOULA, MS 39568-0080 TELEPHONE: 228-762-7188 FACSIMILE: 228-762-7266 MISS, STATE BAR NO. 06720

Attorney of Record for the Appellant

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### NO. 2007-KA-00758-COA

## **COLT ALLEN CHRISTIAN**

### **APPELLANT**

APPELLEE

VERSUS

Statement of the Case	
Procedural History and Disposition in the Court Below	1.
Factual Statement of the Case	3.
Summary of the Argument	4.
Argument and Citation of Authorities	
1. Whether the trial court erred in sustaining the State's objection to the Defendant's designation of Jim Bowman as an expert witness as a shooting reconstructionist.	5.
2. Whether the Jury Verdict in this case is contrary to the credible evidence adduced at trial and contrary to the law of this State.	8.
3. Whether the cumulative errors in the investigation of this case, and at trial, resulted in a basically unfair trial of the Defendant in this case.	12.
Conclusion	15.
Certificate of Service	16.

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

. .

CASES	PAGE(S)
Anthony v. State, 936 So.2d 471 (Miss.App. 2006)	10.
Baker v. State, 6 So.2d 315 (Miss. 1942)	10.
Blackledge v. Perry, 417 U.S. 21, 94 S.Ct. 2098 (1974)	14.
Chinn v. State, 958 So.2d 1223 (Miss. 2007)	11.
Clark v. State, 398 So.2d 229 (Miss. 1981)	11.
Cotton v. State, 675 So.2d 308 (Miss. 1996)	8.
Cowart v. State, 910 So.2d 726 (Miss.App. 2005)	8.
Daubert v. Merrill Dow Pharmaceuticals, 509 U.S. 579, 588, 113 S.Ct. 2786 (Cal. 1993)	6. 7.
Ducksworth v. State, 46 So.2d 787 (Miss. 1950)	9.
Fairley v. State, 871 So.2d 1282 (Miss. 2003)	7.
Garlotte v. State, 915 So.2d 460, 467 (Miss.App. 2005)	13., 14.
General Motors Corp. v. Pegues, 724 So.2d 489 (Miss.App. 1998)	6.
Gray v. State, 799 So.2d 53 (Miss. 2001)	7.
Houston v. State, 149 So.2d 331 (Miss. 1963)	11.
Kelly v. State, 735 So.2d 1071, 1075 (Miss.App. 1999)	13.
Logan v. State, 773 So.2d 338 (Miss. 2000)	7.
Manning v. State, 765 So.2d 516 (Miss. 1999)	9.
McGee v. State, 820 So.2d 700 (Miss.App. 2000)	13.
McGruder v. State, 434 So.2d 1310 (Miss. 1984)	14.

# CASES

. · · ·

McIntosh v. State, 917 So.2d 78 (Miss. 2005)	9.
Reddix v. State, 731 So.2d 581 (Miss. 1999)	12.
Ross v. State, 954 So.2d 968 (Miss. 2007)	14.
Seals v. State, 44 So.2d 61 (Miss. 1950)	13.
Smith v. State, 754 So.2d 1159 (Miss. 2000)	10.
Swan v. State, 806 So.2d 1111 (Miss. 2002)	9.
United States v. Young, 464 F.2d 160 (5th Cir., Miss. 1972)	9.
Walls v. State, 928 So.2d 922 (Miss.App. 2006)	7.
Weathersby v. State, 147 So. 481 (Miss. 1933)	11.

# STATUTES AND RULES

U.S.C., Const. Amend. 6	13.
Fed.R.Evid., Rule 702	6.
Const. 1890, Sec. 26	13.
Miss. Code 1972, Ann., Sec. 97-3-7(2) (Amend.)	2.
Miss.R.Evid., Rule 702	6.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

.

1. Whether the trial court erred in sustaining the State's objection to the Defendant's designation of Jim Bowman as an expert witness as a shooting reconstruct-tionist.

2. Whether the Jury Verdict in this case is contrary to the credible evidence adduced at trial and contrary to the law of this State.

3. Whether the cumulative errors in the investigation of this case, and at trial resulted in a basically unfair trial of the Defendant in this case.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

The procedural history of Criminal Action No. 2006-10,444(3), State of Mississippi versus Colt Allen Christian, is extensive, and at times highly contested. The basic facts that formed the genesis of the case are simple. After a late afternoon truck chase between the Defendant, Colt Allen Christian, ("Christian"), and the alleged victim, Ellis Eugene, "Gene", Roberts, ("Roberts"), through Eastern Jackson County, and the confrontation between the parties on June 19, 2005, Christian's pistol discharged after being struck by the door of Roberts' truck shooting Roberts in the head. Roberts was taken for emergency care in Mobile, Alabama, and Christian was arrested.

From this occurrence, Christian was indicted, (CP-5), by the Jackson County Grand Jury on or about August 2, 2006, for the crime of aggravated assault in violation of Miss. Code 1972, Ann., Sec. 97-3-7(2)(Amend.). After pleading Not Guilty, (CP-6), to the charge, Christian then commenced his discovery with the State on December 14, 2006. (CP-11, 14 and 16).

The State immediately countered with its Motion to Strike Christian's Expert Witness on February 2, 2007. (CP-18) Christian further issued his requests for particularized discovery, (CP-34), as granted, (CP-37), and agreed to produce his DNA samples to the State. (CP-32) During this period, it seems that the State was experiencing problems with its medical experts, forcing the State to use compulsory process for their appearance. (CP-41 and 43) This created certain problems for the defense, (CP-47), forcing a last minute interview by the defense of these witnesses. The State then renewed its Motion to Strike Christian's Expert, (CP-49), just prior to trial, alleging discovery violations on the part of Christian.

Trial commenced in this action on April 24, 2007 and continued through April 26, 2007. During the course of the trial, the State called seven witnesses, including its expert, Dr. Quinlan and the alleged victim, Gene Roberts. Christian called four witnesses, including himself and his expert, Jim Bowman. At the conclusion of trial, the Jury returned a Verdict of Guilty of Aggravated Assault. (CP-76) The trial court then went immediately to sentencing Christian, and pronounced a Sentence of twenty (20) years, eighteen (18) years to serve and two years under post-release supervision, along with a \$5,000.00 fine. (CP-77)

Christian then filed his Motion for a New Trial on April 27, 2007, (CP-79), along with his Motion for an Appeal Bond. (CP-82). Both Motions were denied by the trial

court on May 3, 2007, and from these adverse decisions. Christian has timely perfected his appeal to this Court. (CP-84, 86, 88, 90).

His appeal bond being denied, Christian has remained in State custody since his conviction.

#### FACTUAL STATEMENT OF THE CASE

What started out as a pleasant drive home after a day on the water on Sunday, June 19, 2005, for Colt Christian and his girlfriend, Amanda Roberts, became a nightmare when Gene Roberts began following them on Shingle Mill Landing Road, South of Highway 90 in Jackson County. This "chase" continued North through Jackson County until Christian and Amanda stopped at Fort Lake Road, above Moss Point, where Roberts rammed the trailer holding the jet skis of the couple at the stop sign.

At this time, Christian turned onto Chatsworth Road to return to his and Amanda's home but stopped prior to reaching his home with Roberts remaining behind him. Christian then took his 45 caliber pistol from his truck and approached Robert's truck to see who this was, and why the chase. It was Christian's testimony that when Roberts opened the door to his truck, Christian's hand was hit by the door causing the pistol to fire and apparently hitting Roberts in the head. Returning to his truck after Roberts has seemingly backed up, Christian and Amanda returned to their home where the couple was arrested by Jackson County authorities.

It was then that Christian and Amanda learned of the injury to Roberts.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Irrespective of the extensive record in this case, it boils down to one determination: was the shooting of Gene Roberts intentional or accidental?

Colt Christian will argue below, as he did at trial, the shooting was accidental. Christian, in his first collision with the Mississippi criminal judicial system quite frankly found that if the State makes up its mind you are guilty, you are in real trouble. This was demonstrated in the investigation of this alleged crime, and at his trial.

And, this is what this appeal is about. Can the State with its control of the charging process, and the ultimate timing of the service of the charge, and control of the docket and trial process, once an accused has been charged, "stack the deck" against the accused?

Christian urges this is precisely what happened in his case. The record in this will show that a concerted process occurred to undercut his basic defense of an accidenttal shooting. It resulted in a basically unfair trial. Something is terribly wrong here.

#### **ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITIES**

# 1. Whether the trial court erred in sustaining the State's objection to the Defendant's designation of Jim Bowman as an expert witness as a shooting reconstructionist.

To say this was a contested issue is a bit of an understatement. The record will reflect that the State, if not keeping Christian's designated expert, Jim Bowman, ("Bowman"), off the stand altogether, then, to so emasculate the areas of his testimony such that it was of minimal effect, to cut out an essential element of Christian's defense. What makes this so reprehensible is that the trial court bought into this lock, stock and barrel.

Bowman was initially designated as an expert witness on February 1, 2007 by Christian. (CP-16) The State immediately moved to exclude Bowman, citing the usual pablum authorities in an effort to keep the witness from testifying. (CP-18) After the State apparently could not figure out its experts, and the trial was continued, (CP-30), a great deal of discovery and a full inspection of the pistol were conducted by Bowman, with the State present, and the results and comments furnished to the State.

Thus must have scared the State as it refilled its Motion to Exclude Bowman, four days prior to trial, (CP-49), this time alleging discovery violations. Yet, the State, as to its medical experts, who were never officially noticed to Christian, and as of April 9, 2007, (CP-41), had not been summoned to appear, Dr. Quinlan's report and viate finally being produced to Christian one week before trial, making the State's position on violations appear to be a case of the "pot calling the kettle black". (T-17) Christian was finally allowed to interview Dr. Quinlan the day of trial. (T-23)

Then, when finally allowed to the stand at trial, came the voir dire of the State. When one looks to the argument of the State at its base, Bowman, who for many years, has been known and accepted as an accident reconstructionist, has had limited experience as a shooting reconstructionist. This, irrespective of a resume produced showing 48 years of training, experience and service in the Navy, as a police officer, and since 1991, a well recognized private investigator and forensic reconstructionist. (RE-80). The State took semantics to new heights in denying a critical element of Christian's defense.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

As an initial statement, the requirements of **Miss.R.Evid., Rule 702** are known and established as to the qualifications of an expert witness, and the admission of the expert's opinion testimony. In this case, one must look at the testimony that is proffered: (1) based upon sufficient facts or data; (2) the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods; and, (3) the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case.

Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 113 S.Ct. 2786, (Cal. 1993), changed the landscape of expert testimony somewhat, when the Court ruled that rigid "general acceptance" requirement for the admission of scientific evidence would be at odds with the "liberal thrust" of the Federal Rules of Evidence and their general approach of relaxing traditional barriers to "opinion" testimony. Fed.R.Evid., Rule 702. Our Courts have apparently adopted this standard when, in *General Motors Corp. v. Pegues*, 724 So.2d 489 (Miss.App. 1998), a mechanic with a high school education was allowed to give his opinion as to a ball joint failure as a primary cause

of a fatal accident, and in *Logan v. State*, 773 So.2d 338 (Miss. 2000), an investigator, employed by private insurers was allowed to give expert opinions as to fraud. What is important as a standard of review is the question, if there is an erroneous admission or exclusion of evidence, will this error adversely affect a substantial right of a party. *Walls v. State*, 928 So.2d 922 (Miss.App. 2006).

#### LEGAL PRINCIPLES

Christian submits that when the entire record of this case is examined, one cannot escape the conclusion that the limiting of Jim Bowman's opinions was a concerted effort to eliminate his core defense theory: the shooting of Gene Roberts was accidental. To be sure, matters concerning discovery and expert testimony are left to the discretion of the trial court, and the exercise of this discretion will not be set aside in the absence of abuse of that discretion. *Gray v. State*, 799 So.2d 53 (Miss. 2001) When the State, after its initial effort to exclude Bowman's testimony in the voir dire announced its acceptance of Bowman as a firearms expert, (T-334), this should have ended this question.

The thrust of Bowman's testimony in summary was that Christian's pistol, if fired correctly, would not have caused the injury to Christian's right hand. (T-309, 358-59) This is basically testimony as to how the pistol works, and has been found to be acceptable expert testimony. *Fairley v. State*, 871 So.2d 1282 (Miss. 2003) The trial court's narrow limitations placed upon the extent of Bowman's testimony, (T-360), would be an undue restriction under *Daubert*, Ante at U.S. 588.

When the history of Bowman's 48 years of working experience is examined, it is graphically apparent he has expertise in several fields of forensic examination of law enforcement activities, including firearms. *Cowart v. State*, 910 So.2d 726 (Miss. App. 2005) When all of the smoke screens of the State are examined, there were no willful discovery violations on the part of Christian. The trial court's sustaining of these objections on the part of the State moved its discretion to an abuse of this authority. *Cotton v. State*, 675 So.2d 308 (Miss. 1996)

# 2. Whether the Jury Verdict in this case is contrary to the credible evidence adduced at trial and contrary to the law of this State.

To simplify this issue somewhat, there is no question that on June 19, 2005, Roberts was shot while in his truck on Chatsworth Road, and the bullet came from Christian's pistol The sole question here is was the shooting intentional or accidental?

Christian strongly contends the shooting was accidental, and further states the evidence at trial, if not exculpatory outright, leaves a large measure of reasonable doubt. .He points to three areas that were not rebutted by the State, and can be considered dispositive and supported by trial testimony:

- 1. The damage to Christian's jet skis;
- 2. The injury to Christian's hand; and,
- 3. The Bowman testimony and exhibits as to how the pistol misfired.

There were three (3) eyewitnesses to this occurrence, Roberts, Christian and Amanda. Roberts was called by the State, but, due to his injury, remembered nothing of the day. Amanda, called by Christian, and due to her Indictment, (Def.Ex. -11), being served on her two or three days prior to the trial, on the advice of her counsel and the Court, was precluded from testifying excepting her identity and the fact she was not

related to Roberts or any member of his family. (T-298) Christian admitted to the pistol misfiring, (T-309-10), but at the scene of the occurrence, that he had no knowledge of Robert's injury. (T-309) He continued his insistence that the shooting was accidental. (T-321) Bowman's testimony and exhibits have been discussed above.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

It is well established that matters regarding the weight and credibility accorded to evidence are to be resolved by the jury. *McIntosh v. State*, 917 So.2d 78 (Miss. 2005). Further, when considering a questioned jury verdict, the appellate court will not reverse a jury verdict unless failure to do so would sanction an unconscionable injustice. *Swan v. State*, 806 So.2d 1111 (Miss. 2002). Finally, when the legal sufficiency of the evidence is challenged on appeal, the appellate court's review authority is limited. *Manning v. State*, 765 So.2d 516 (Miss. 1999), other citations omitted.

In spite of this exceeding high burden of persuasion on his part, Christian submits his case is one that requires this review.

#### LEGAL PRINCIPLES

Was the shooting of Gene Roberts intentional or accidental? This is the core question throughout this trial. The State's Jury Instruction S-2, (CP-66), though properly setting for the base elements of aggravated assault, was lacking in fact specific elements in this occurrence Christian submits, *United States v. Young*, 464 F.2d 160 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir., Miss. 1972). The State took the position this was either aggravated assault or nothing. *Ducksworth v. State*, 46 So.2d 787 (Miss. 1950). But did the State prove this beyond a reasonable doubt? A review of the State's fact witnesses, who with the exception of Mrs. Doris Moorman, who more or less corroborated the later testimony of Christian as to the travel of the two trucks in the latter portion of their trip through Eastern Jackson County on June 19<sup>th</sup>, was primarily the after effects of Roberts' injury. There is no dispute on this issue.

Dr. Eugene Quinlan, the State's expert, was much the same. His extensive testimony, both on direct and cross-examination, covered not only Roberts' immediate surgical procedures, but also a large part of subsequent procedures that Roberts had completed at the time of trial. Again, here there is no dispute. However, Dr. Quinlan could not opine a determination to rebut an accidental discharge of Christian's pistol.

The burden of proof in a criminal case never shifts from the State to the defendant. Rather, the State is required to prove every material element of the indictment beyond reasonable doubt. A defendant is not required to prove that he acted in self-defense or accident, and, if a reasonable doubt of his guilt arises from the evidence, including evidence of self-defense or accident, he then must be acquitted. *Smith v. State*, 754 So.2d 1159 (Miss. 2000).

In this case, there were no threats and/or insulting language between the parties that would serve as justification for provocation. *Baker v. State*, 6 So.2d 315 (Miss. 1942). Only the unrebutted testimony that, at the start of the sojurn through Jackson County, when the two trucks were side-by-side, Roberts appeared "upset about some-thing." (T-305) There was no fight over a gun here, *Anthony v. State*, 936 So.2d 471 (Miss.App. 2006), Christian's pistol accidentally discharged and in firing, injured

Christian's hand.

There was corroboration of Christian's injury and how the accidental firing caused the injury. (T-352) The injury at the scene of the accident was even corroborated by the State's witnesses, Tracy Wilson as to Christian's blood on the Roberts' truck. (T-218), and Ken McClenic as to the injury to Christian's hand. (T-250) There was equally corroboration of the jet skis behind Christian's truck, (T-195), and of the damage to the jet skis. (T-301-02). And, finally, even within the limitations placed upon Bowman by the trial court, Bowman's testimony supported the theory of an accidental discharge of the pistol. (T-365-66) *Chinn v. State*, 958 So.2d 1223 (Miss. 2007).

Christian was, at trial, the only individual capable to discuss this entire story with direct knowledge. Objectively, Christian contends his theory of the accidental discharge of his pistol was never rebutted. There is a long-standing principle in Mississippi law that when a defendant or his witnesses are the only eyewitnesses to a crime, their version of the crime must be accepted unless substantially contradicted in material elements by credible witnesses, physical facts, or facts commonly known. *Weathersby v. State*, 147 So. 481 (Miss. 1933); Accord. *Houston v. State*, 149 So.2d 331 (Miss. 1963). This would be particularly true when any hearsay statement proffered, could not be considered a dying declaration, and on its face is self serving and prejudicial. (S-21, T-145) *Clark v. State*, 398 So.2d 229 (Miss. 1981).

In the final analysis, Christian submits that the State failed to prove every essential element of aggravated assault, particularly intent, beyond a reasonable doubt. Christian also submits that his proof of an accidental shooting was not contradicted effectively by the State. His Motion for a directed verdict at the conclusion of trial, (T-376), should have been sustained. *Reddix v. State*, 731 So.2d 581 (Miss. 1999).

# 4. Whether the cumulative errors in the investigation of this case, and at trial, resulted in a basically unfair trial of the Defendant in this case.

This is a judgement call, and one of perception. As a rule, if it appears to a reasonable person that the accused at trial did not have a real defense to his charge, and the conduct of the trial was such to demonstrate this, the question of fairness is raised.

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