**COLT ALLEN CHRISTIAN** 

**FILED** 

**APPELLANT** 

MAR 2 4 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2007-KA-0758

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

VS.

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUSTAINING THE STATE'S OBJECTION TO THE DEFENSE EXPERT WITNESS' QUALIFICATION AS A SHOOTING RECONSTRUCTIONIST
- 2. THAT THE VERDICT IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE
- 3. THAT THERE WERE NO CUMULATIVE ERRORS RESULTING IN A DENIAL OF A FAIR TRIAL FOR THE APPELLANT

#### **ARGUMENT**

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUSTAINING THE STATE'S OBJECTION TO THE DEFENSE EXPERT WITNESS' QUALIFICATION AS A SHOOTING RECONSTRUCTIONIST

The defense called one James O'Dell Bowman to the stand and attempted to qualify him in the field of firearms and something called shooting reconstruction.

In the presence of the jury, the witness stated that he had been a navy SEAL during the

Vietnam war and that he worked for two years as a law enforcement office in California. He worked for the Pascagoula police department for twenty - one years. He was familiar with firearms and was a "master shooter" and a police sniper. He was in charge of criminal investigations at the time he retired from the Pascagoula police department.

He claimed that he attended an Institute of Police Technology and Management in Jacksonville, Florida, where, he said, he learned firearm reconstruction.

The witness then went on to describe how the gun that the Appellant used to shoot Roberts operated. He described the result of his testing of that gun. He concluded that the reason why the gun had a spent shell lying in its chamber was that something had blocked the slide. (R. Vol. 4, pp. 325 - 333).

The defense then asked Bowman of his opinion as to whether it was the Appellant's hand that blocked the slide. To this the State objected, asserting that the witness had not been shown to be an expert in the field of toolmark identification or firearm injuries. This objection was sustained. The defense then tendered the witness as an expert in firearms. (R. Vol. 4, pg. 333)

The State the requested and was granted *voir dire* of the witness. However, under the belief that the defense was seeking to qualify the witness as an expert in firearms only, it withdrew its objection. When the defense attempted to have the witness testify that it was his opinion that it was the Appellant's hand that interfered with the movement of the slide, the State objected. That objection was sustained. (R. Vol. 4, pg. 334).

The witness then testified that the Appellant's gun never malfunctioned when he tested it.

Bowman then shot the weapon incorrectly. The result was that the slide struck his hand. The fired shell remained in the chamber.

The witness then testified that he spoke with the Appellant prior to trial about the

shooting. Based on what the Appellant told him, Bowman concluded that the weapon struck the window or door of the victim's truck. When asked what he thought happened when the victim's truck was struck with the weapon, the State again objected, asserting that the witness had not been qualified to be an expert in the putative field of firearm shooting reconstruction. This objection was sustained. (R. Vol. 4, pp. 334 - 336).

The defense then, still in the presence of the jury, attempted to qualify Bowman as an expert in that alleged field. Bowman testified that had investigated between two and five hundred crime scenes. They had on occasion tried to ascertain the angle at which a weapon was fired and the location of the shooter when the weapon was fired. He testified that he had been to school to learn how to do these things. Upon this, the defense tendered Bowman as an expert in the field of shooting reconstruction; the State was granted *voir dire*. (R. Vol. 4, pp. 336 - 337).

In the course of this examination, Bowman stated that he was an accident reconstructionist and that he had attended sixty - two courses in accident reconstruction. He had attended one course in shooting reconstruction. He said he had course in unresolved death investigations and other criminal investigations that dealt with shootings in particular.

One course Bowman claimed to have taken was one he described as "crime scene reconstruction of shooting incidents." However, the school's website listed no such course.

There was a course called "crime scene reconstruction." Still, Bowman maintained he attended a course called "gunshot reconstruction" though he had no certificate for it.

Bowman was not a member of any group known as "the Association for Crime Scene Reconstruction." He admitted that that group did shooting reconstruction.

Bowman thought he was a member of the International Association of Bloodstain Pattern

Analysts, but it turned out that he was not. He thought that was because he had failed to pay his

dues.

The trial court was still unconvinced that Bowman had been shown to be an expert in the field of shooting reconstruction expert or that it had been established that there was such a field.

So, the defense soldiered on, yet again trying to establish these things.

Bowman claimed to have reconstructed shootings some twenty or thirty times during his career as a policeman. He also claimed that the same "technology," to use defense counsel's work, for shooting reconstruction was the same as accident reconstruction. It all came down to the effects of gravity and road or air friction. At that point, the trial court sent the jury out of the courtroom (R. Vol. 4, pp. 337 - 346).

The court explained its role as the "gatekeeper" under M.R.E 702. It then informed the witness that it had thusfar not heard anything in particular as to the qualifications of the witness. It had heard nothing in particular of what the associations mentioned did insofar as training, education or experience. There was nothing to show what experience the witness had in testifying or rendering opinions in his purported fields of expertise.

The witness then testified that shooting reconstruction involves the attempt to determine where a bullet came from in the course of examining a crime scene. In one case, this determination allowed a conclusion as to the height of the shooter. That crime scene was "fresh," however.

In the case at bar, Bowman visited the scene about a month and a half before trial. There was no evidence apparent at the scene when he visited it. Bowman did talk to the Appellant, and he examined the gun the Appellant used. He examined photographs of the vehicles involved.

The witness then testified that he had concluded that the gun was fired while it was being jarred, that the shooter's hand was out of position, and that this was why the fired shell remained

in the chamber. He thought the gun was fired while the Appellant was pushing on the driver's window of the victim's truck.

The State objected to the admission of this conclusion on the ground that it was based upon speculation. There was no evidence that the gun fired while the Appellant was pushing on the window. The State asserted that the conclusion was not reliable and thus not relevant, and that Bowman was not demonstrated to have the qualifications necessary to offer such an opinion. The trial court sustained the objection on those grounds. (R. Vol. 4, 346 - 355).

But the defense still was not finished! The witness then demonstrated how he thought the gun was fired. While it is difficult to tell from the record what was exhibited, the essence of the demonstration was that the hammer of the gun was cocked, the Appellant's finger was on the trigger, and that in some way or another the gun was hit from the front. Thus the shooting, according to the witness, was accidental.

At long last there was a final ruling on the question. The witness was found to qualify as an expert in firearms, but not in the alleged field of shooting reconstruction. However, the court did determine that the witness could testify that the gun might have fired if jarred. The expert could not testify that a jarring of the gun caused the injuries to the Appellant's hand. (R. Vol. 4, pp.356 - 360).

The witness testified before the jury that the gun could have fired if the shooter's hand was jarred out of position. (R. Vol. 4, pp. 364 - 366).

The Appellant claims that the trial court erred in its ruling. We bear in mind that it is a matter left to the discretion of a trial court whether to find that a proposed expert may testify as such. This Court will not find an abuse of that discretion unless the decision is shown to be arbitrary or clearly erroneous. *White v. State*, 964 So.2d 1181 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

The Appellant has urged nothing here to show that the decision was arbitrary or clearly erroneous. What he has done is complain that the decision to refuse to permit Bowan to testify as to his opinion that the gun somehow accidentally fired compromised the defense. It did not: the Appellant could and did offer evidence of this.

The Appellant has not demonstrated that there is a field of expertise known as "shooting reconstruction." No books, treatises, studies or materials such as those were offered to the trial court to demonstrate the existence of and reliability of the field. Similarly, though given much time to do so, the Appellant failed to demonstrate that the witness possessed sufficient training or experience in the putative field so as to be qualified as an expert in it. We have found no decision in this State's decisions recognizing the field.

Under M.R.E. 702, it was the Appellant's burden to establish that: (1) that the alleged field of shooting reconstructionist was specialized knowledge that would assist the trier of fact; (2) that Bowan was qualified by knowledge, skill, experience, training or education to testify as such an expert; (3) and that the testimony was based upon sufficient facts or data, that it is based upon reliable principles and methods, and that Bowan reliably applied those principles and methods in the case at bar. Here, all that Bowan said he did was to fire the gun the Appellant said he used. He confirmed that the gun was in working order and that by blocking the action of the slide one would cause a fired shell to remain in the chamber. But in no way did Bowan explain by what principles and methods he divined that the Appellant's gun fired "accidentally."

Beyond this, we submit that the proposed testimony – that the gun "accidentally" fired while striking the victim's vehicle – was at best speculative. There were a number of assumptions made about correct and incorrect firing positions. These in turn assumed that the Appellant would have known how to fire the gun correctly. These in turn assumed the location

of the Appellant's hand on the gun.

The Appellant was permitted, though Bowan, to introduce evidence as to how the gun worked. Likewise, it was in evidence that the gun was in working order and that the only way to account for the presence of the fired shell in the chamber was that the slide was blocked. The injuries to the Appellant's hand were proven. It was not necessary that the expert testify to this. The Appellant himself testified to this. (R. Vol. 4, pg. 310).

In the event that this Court should find that it was error to refuse to permit the expert to testify as a shooting reconstructionist, any error should be held to be harmless. The theory that the gun went off accidentally was established before the jury. Bowan testified that the gun could be knocked out of position in the hand and that the gun could still be fired. The Appellant testified that the gun went off accidentally. The defense of accident was fully established.

The Appellant mentions something about a discovery issue. There was an imbroglio about whether the Appellant disclosed what he was required to disclose, but this played no part when it came to determining whether the witness' testimony qua shooting reconstructionist would be admitted. It is unnecessary to consider that part of the case.

The First Assignment of Error is without merit.

#### 2. THAT THE VERDICT IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE

In considering the Appellant's Second Assignment of Error, we bear in mind the standard of review applicable to it. *May v. State*, 460 So.2d 778 (Miss. 1984).

The evidence in support of the verdict, taken as true, together with all reasonable inferences therefrom, is that the Appellant, annoyed by the driving behavior of the victim, bumped the victim's bumper. When the victim pulled over, apparently assuming that the Appellant would stop, the Appellant drove on. The victim followed the Appellant, called 911.

At some point, the Appellant and the victim stopped their vehicles. The Appellant was out of his truck, armed, even though there was no reason for him to be armed, holding his testimony aside for the moment. The 911 call transcript clearly shows that the Appellant ordered the victim out of his truck, using abusive language in doing so. The victim's words as shown in that transcript clearly indicate that he was offering no threats of any kind to the Appellant. The Appellant broke the driver's side window. The victim was then shot by the Appellant. This was a completely clear case of aggravated assault.

In the course of the investigation, the Appellant admitted that he had shot Roberts. He claimed, though, contrary to his trial testimony, that he fired in self - defense. He claimed that he thought Roberts was reaching for something.

By the time of trial, the Appellant decided that his act of shooting Roberts was an accident. He claimed that he was trying to keep Roberts inside his truck when the gun went off. Moreover, he testified that Roberts instigated the difficulty by pulling up beside him in an angry and threatening way, though he, the Appellant, did not know why.

The Appellant's testimony was contradicted and impeached in several ways. First, as we have said, he first claimed that he shot in self - defense, and then claimed accident. Secondly, in his account of what happened in the initial investigation, he did not claim that the chase between himself and Roberts began far before the point where they were observed by a witness. Thirdly, the tone of the voices on the audio tape clearly show who was the aggressor, and it was the Appellant. Fourthly, the gun had four safeties and could not be fired unless all were disengaged, the hammer cocked, and the trigger pulled. Then there was the fact that as Deputy Zwick was present as medical personnel were tending to Roberts, the Appellant drove by in another vehicle and told Zwick the lie that someone else was driving the purple truck.

And these were the major inconsistencies. Consequently, the Appellant's claim that his testimony was uncontradicted is flatly untrue. The Appellant's story of accident was rebutted.

It is difficult to see how accident was involved in this shooting. Clearly, the Appellant instigated the difficulty and then introduced deadly force into it. Since self - defense was expressly abandoned by the Appellant, it simply made no sense why the Appellant had a loaded, cocked gun on his person when he accosted the victim at the victim's truck unless it was the Appellant's intent to shoot the victim. Had this shooting been an accident, it is difficult to understand why the Appellant drove by the shooting scene in someone else's car, acting nervous. The evidence was wholly sufficient to permit a reasonable jury to find guilt.

The fact that the Appellant's blood was at the scene means nothing. He injured himself.

That there was some slight damage to the jet ski might or might not have indicated that the victim bumped the Appellant's truck. Clearly, though, the Appellant bumped the victim's truck.

The Appellant's claim, perhaps, boils down to a suggestion that, while he did instigate the difficulty, and did engage in an assault on the victim, his gun somehow went off accidentally.

The absurdity of this, if this is what the Appellant means, ought to be manifest: One simply cannot expect to engage in the acts the Appellant committed, yet somehow not be responsible for the foreseeable consequences of them.

The Second Assignment of Error is without merit.

# 3. THAT THERE WERE NO CUMULATIVE ERRORS RESULTING IN A DENIAL OF A FAIR TRIAL FOR THE APPELLANT<sup>1</sup>

The Appellant asserts that there was a "concerted plan to eliminate his defense of an accidental shooting." While not clear, in support of this notion, he re-asserts the issue concerning the witness Bowman. To that extent, we incorporate here our response to that issue.

He also alleges that the State indicted the Appellant's girlfriend as an accessory after the fact for the sole and specific reason of eliminating her as a witness for the defense. She was indeed so indicted on 2 August 2006. (Defendant's Exhibit 2). She was indicted on the same day and year as the Appellant. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 5). She did indeed elect to invoke her privilege not to testify. (R. Vol. 4, pp. 295 - 298).

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